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As in past years during this decade, the number of employment
discrimination decisions issued by the United States Court of Appeals for
the Eleventh Circuit during the survey period is markedly lower than it
was in the 1980s. This pattern of declining numbers of employment
discrimination decisions may be merely a random occurrence, or on the
other hand, it may be the result of successful alternative dispute
resolution processes such as arbitration and mediation. The number of
decisions, is, however, expected to increase by the next survey period, as
several discrimination cases, brought pursuant to the newly enacted
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990,' are currently working their
way through the district court system.

While the number of decisions reported upon during the 1993 survey
period may be in decline, the opinions issued by both the United States
Supreme Court and the Eleventh Circuit encompass a wide variety of
important substantive, procedural, and remedial issues that will shape
the field of employment law in the following years.2
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1. 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101-12117 (1990).
2. This Article will cover significant cases in the area of employment discrimination law

handed down by the United States Supreme Court and the United States Court of Appeals
for the Eleventh Circuit during the 1993 calendar year. Cases arising under the following
federal statutes are included: Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Pub. L. No. 88-352,
§§ 701-718, 78 Stat. 253 (codified as amended at 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e to 2000e-17 (1988));
the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, Pub. L. No. 90-202, §§ 2-17, 81 Stat.
602 (codified as amended 29 U.S.C. §§ 621-634 (1988)) (ADEA); the Civil Rights Act of
1991, Pub. L. No. 102-166, 105 Stat. 1071 (codified as amended 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e to
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MERCER LAW REVIEW

I. TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964

A. Theories of Liability and Burdens of Proof

Disparate Treatment Cases. The United States Supreme Court
issued two Title VII decisions during the survey period, both of which
involved theories of disparate treatment liability. In the first of these
two cases, St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks,' the Court was faced with
the difficult question of whether the traditional model of proof for
resolving disparate treatment cases involving only circumstantial
evidence of discrimination, as set forth in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v.
Green4 and Texas Department of Community Affairs v. Burdine,5 should
be overhauled.6

Plaintiff, Melvin Hicks, was a black male shift commander at St.
Mary's Honor Center, a halfway house run by the Missouri Department
of Corrections and Human Resources.7 Plaintiff had been employed at
the halfway house for about six years and had a satisfactory employment
record until 1984.' In January of 1984, extensive personnel changes
occurred at St. Mary's Honor Center, and although plaintiff retained his
position, he was placed under the immediate supervision of the chief of
custody and the facility's new superintendent.9 Almost immediately,
plaintiff became the subject of repeated and increasingly severe
disciplinary action, which resulted in his demotion to correctional officer
and subsequent discharge on June 7, 1984.10

20OO0e-17 and scattered sections (Supp. 1992)); the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Pub. L. No.
93-112, §§ 2-741, 87 Stat. 357 (codified as amended at 29 U.S.C. §§ 701-796(i) (1988)); the
Civil Rights Act of 1866, ch. 114, § 16, 16 Stat. 144 (codified as amended at 42 U.S.C.
§ 1981 (1988)); and the Civil Rights Act of 1871, ch. 22, § 1, 17 Stat. 13 (codified as
amended at 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (1988)).

3. 113 S. Ct. 2742 (1993).
4. 411 U.S. 792 (1973).
5. 450 U.S. 248 (1981).
6. 113 S. Ct. at 2747.
7. Id. at 2746.
8. Id.
9. Id.

10. Id. Plaintiff was suspended on March 4, 1984 for a five day period for failure to
follow institutional rules and was subsequently reprimanded for failing to adequately
investigate a brawl that occurred on his shift on March 21, 1984. He was thereafter
demoted for failing to ensure that his subordinates recorded use of institutional vehicles,
and was finally discharged for threatening his supervisor on April 19, 1984. Id.
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Plaintiff filed suit against defendant under Title VII, alleging racial
discrimination.1 At trial, defendant did not attempt to contest the fact
that plaintiff had established a prima facie case of racial discrimination
under the McDonnell Douglas model of proof;'2 instead it proffered two
supposedly legitimate business reasons for why plaintiff had been
demoted and discharged. First, it contended that plaintiff's cumulative
violations warranted his discharge. Second, it asserted that the severity
of these violations justified its discharge decision."

The United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri
found that both of defendant's proffered reasons for demoting and
discharging plaintiff were pretextual 4 and that many similarly
situated shift commanders at the Center had engaged in the same kinds
of conduct as had plaintiff, yet they had not been similarly disci-
plined.'5 Additionally, the district court concluded that the confronta-
tion between plaintiff and his supervisor, which resulted in plaintiff
making threats, had been manufactured for the purpose of getting rid of
plaintiff.'" Nevertheless, the district court ruled in defendant's favor
because it found that even though the reasons offered by defendant were
pretextual, plaintiff had failed to prove that his demotion and termina-
tion were racially motivated, as opposed to some crusade by defendant
to personally mistreat him.' 7

On appeal, the the Eighth Circuit reversed the district court's
decision.'" The court of appeals held that once plaintiff had proven
that all of the defendant's proffered legitimate business reasons were
pretextual, he was entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.'9 In
support of this position, the Eighth Circuit stated that after defendant's

11. Id.
12. Id. at 2747. As set forth in McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), and refined

in Texas Dep't of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248 (1981), the plaintiff bears
the initial burden of establishing a prima facie case of discrimination. 411 U.S. at 802; 450
U.S. at 252-53. If the plaintiff meets this initial burden by a preponderance of the
evidence, the burden of production shifts to the defendant "to articulate some legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason" for the defendant's action. 411 U.S. at 802; 450 U.S. at 253.
If the defendant meets this burden, the plaintiff must then prove by a preponderance of
the evidence that the defendant's articulated reason was not the true reason, but was
pretext for discrmination. 411 U.S. at 804.

13. 113 S. Ct. at 2747 (citing Hicks v. St. Mary's Honor Ctr., 756 F. Supp. 1244, 1250
(E.D. Mo. 1991)).

14. Id. at 2748.
15. Id.
16. Id.
17. Id.
18. Id.
19. Id. (citing St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 970 F.2d 487, 492 (8th Cir. 1992)).
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justifications were proven to be false, defendant was in the same position
as if it had remained silent and had never attempted to rebut plaintiff's
prima facie case.2'

In a hotly contested five-to-four decision, the United States Supreme
Court reversed the Eighth Circuit's decision.2 Writing for the majori-
ty, Justice Scalia disagreed with the court of appeals' contention that
defendant was in no better position when its reasons were determined
to be pretextual than if it had never offered any rebuttal evidence at
all.22 Justice Scalia reasoned that when a party fails to come forward
and rebut a claimant's prima facie case, it fails to establish any evidence
to contest a finding of discrimination, and an unrebutted presumption
of discrimination therefore exists.2" However, when an employer such
as defendant has come forward and satisfied its burden of production by
providing nondiscriminatory reasons for its actions, the employer has
rebutted any presumption of intentional discrimination.24 According to
the majority, once defendant had supplied nondiscriminatory business
reasons, the framework for allocating burdens of production in disparate
treatment cases was no longer relevant and the issue then became
whether or not such reasons, if found to be pretextual, camouflage an
unlawful discriminatory reason that could be proven by the evidence.2"

Justice Scalia observed that the Eighth Circuit's automatic presump-
tion that a discriminatory motive exists when an employer's proffered
reasons are found to be unbelievable is erroneous because it is a
presumption that is not supported by proof of discrimination, but merely
a finding that the employer's stated reasons have been determined to be
untrue.26 The majority found that the combination of a plaintiff's
prima facie case and a finding that the defendant's proffered reasons,
especially reasons indicating mendacity, may be enough for a fact-finder
to infer the existence of intentional discrimination.2 ' Nonetheless, the
majority concluded that these findings, absent specific proof, were not
sufficient to establish as a matter of law that a discriminatory animus
necessarily motivated the employer's actions."

Justice Souter, writing for the minority, sharply disagreed with the
majority's analysis and argued that plaintiff was entitled to prevail after

20. Id.
21. Id. at 2756. The Court remanded the case to the Eighth Circuit. Id.
22. Id. at 2748.
23. Id. at 2748 & n.3.
24. Id. at 2749.
25. Id.
26. Id.
27. Id.
28. Id.
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he had proven that defendant's proffered reasons were false.29 The
minority's view has been championed by Senator Metzenbaum and
Congressman Mann, who have introduced two bills before Congress to
overrule the majority's holding and allow a plaintiff to prevail upon a
showing that the employer's proffered reasons are pretextual.3

The second Title VII disparate treatment case the Court considered
during the survey period was Harris v. Forklift Systems, Inc.31 In
Harris, a unanimous Supreme Court tackled the issue of whether
conduct, in order to be actionable in a hostile environment sexual
harassment case, had to either seriously affect plaintiff's psychological
well-being or cause plaintiff to suffer injury.32

Plaintiff brought a claim of sexual harassment against her former
employer, claiming that the company's president had engaged in such
vulgar and offensive behavior that he "had created an abusive work
environment for her because of her gender."3 Specifically, plaintiff
contended that the president's numerous derisive and sexual comments
created an intolerable work atmosphere and that she was finally
forced to quit after the president allegedly suggested that she promised
sexual favors in order to secure an account.'

Plaintiff's sexual harassment claim was tried before a magistrate
judge in the United States District Court for the Middle District of
Tennessee.3" The magistrate found that although the president's
conduct had offended plaintiff and other female employees at her work

29. Id. at 2757 (Souter, J., dissenting). According to the minority, the majority's
analysis is flawed because a defendant is no longer bound by the factual framework it
proffers when supplying its legitimate business reasons. Consequently, a defendant can
rely on reasons that it previously had never raised in order to justify its conduct. Id. The
minority concludes that the majority's present interpretation not only constitutes an
abandonment of the McDonnell Douglas-Burdine model, but that it is also unfair to
plaintiffs, who must now anticipate every conceivable defense that a defendant can raise
and prepare to address them. Id. at 2763.

30. S. 1776, 103rd Cong., 1st Sess. (1993) and H.R. 2787, 103rd Cong., 1st Sess. (1993).
These bills would propose that plaintiffs in Title VII, ADEA, ADA and Section 1983
employment discrimination cases would be able to prevail upon a showing that an
employer's purported business justifications were untrue.

31. 114 S. Ct. 367 (1993).
32. Id. at 370.
33. Id. at 369.
34. Id. The president often derided plaintiff and other women in his employ and once

even referred to plaintiff as "a dumb ass woman." On other occassions, the president would
ask female employees to retrieve coins from his pants pockets. Id.

35. Id.
36. Id.
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place, plaintiff had not been the victim of sexual harassment.37 The
district court noted that while it was undoubtedly a "close case," the test
for whether sexual harassment constitutes a hostile work environment
within the Sixth Circuit was whether the alleged harassment was
conduct that would interfere with a reasonable person's work perfor-
mance and seriously affect the psychological well-being of a reasonable
person under similar circumstances." The court concluded that while
some of the comments to plaintiff did offend her and would offend a
reasonable woman under similar circumstances, such comments were not
so severe as to be expected to seriously affect plaintiff's psychological
well-being.3 s Moreover, the district court reasoned that plaintiff was
not, in fact, "subjectively so offended that she suffered injury."40 The
Sixth Circuit, in a brief, unpublished opinion, affirmed the magistrate's
ruling.

4 1

The Supreme Court granted certiorari in order to resolve a split
between the various circuits as to whether conduct to be actionable as
abusive work environment harassment must, of necessity, seriously
affect an employee's psychological well-being or lead plaintiff to suffer
injury.42 Justice O'Connor, writing for the Court, concluded that such
an injury or effect upon psychological well-being was not a necessary
component of this theory of sexual harassment and overturned the
circuit court.41 Instead, Justice O'Connor declared that when discrimi-
nation, intimidation, and ridicule so permeate the work place as to
severely and pervasively alter the conditions of a victim's employment,
an action for abusive work environment harassment can be main-
tained.44 Acknowledging that the Court's decision opted for a "middle
path"' between requiring conduct that is merely offensive and that
which causes psychological injury, Justice O'Connor noted that while
conduct that a reasonable person would not find offensive falls outside
of the purview of Title VII, the protections do come into play when both
a reasonable person and the victim of such harassment find the conduct

37. Id. at 369-70. The District Court for the Middle District of Tennessee adopted the
magistrate's report and recommendation. Id. at 369.

38. Id. at 370. In making this decision, the Court was relying upon the Sixth Circuit's
decision in Rabidue v. Osceola Refining Co., 805 F.2d 611, 619-20 (6th Cir. 1986), cert.
denied, 481 U.S. 1041 (1987). 114 S. Ct. at 370.

39. 114 S. Ct. at 369-70.
40. Id. at 370.
41. Id. (citing Harris v. Forklift Sys., 976 F.2d 733 (6th Cir. 1992)).
42. Id. (citing Harris v. Forklift Sys., 113 S. Ct. 1382 (1993)).
43. Id. at 371.
44. Id. at 370.
45. Id.

1264 (Vol. 45



EMPLOYMENT DISCRIMINATION

offensive." The Court found that while the precise point at which such
offensive conduct becomes actionable is incapable of being identified for
the purpose of establishing a bright line test, a cause of action under
Title VII is maintainable prior to the onset of a nervous breakdown and
can be determined by looking at circumstances such as the frequency of
the harassing conduct, its severity, and its effect upon performance.47

Recognizing that an abusively discriminatory work atmosphere can, and
often does, impact upon an employee's work performance without
manifesting any outwardly observable signs, the Court concluded such
harassment is nonetheless actionable because it "offends Title VII's
broad rule of work place equality."

In Calloway v. Partners National Health Plans,49 the Eleventh
Circuit decided its first Title VII disparate treatment case of the survey
period. The court of appeals overturned the United States District Court
for the Southern District of Alabama, after it found that defendant had
engaged in a racially based discriminatory wage payment scheme in
violation of Title VII.' Plaintiff was a black female who, in June of
1987, accepted employment with defendant at a salary considerably
lower than the initial wage paid to her white female predecessor. 1

Although plaintiff tried to negotiate a higher wage, she was informed
that she was being paid the maximum amount that defendant could offer
for her position.52 Over the course of the following two years, plaintiff
applied for several positions of increased responsibility in defendant's
employ, yet had no success."3 Finally, in November of 1989, plaintiff
resigned." She was thereafter replaced by a white female who had
neither a college degree nor any prior experience, yet plaintiff's
replacement was paid an initial wage that was greater than that
plaintiff was making at the time she resigned.55 For many months

46. Id.
47. Id. at 370-71.
48. Id. at 371.
49. 986 F.2d 446 (11th Cir. 1993).
50. Id. at 448.
51. Id. Plaintiff was initially hired to fill the position of Marketing Secretary/Secretary

I, at an annual rate of $14,996 per annum. This annual wage was over $1,000 less than
the initial wage paid to her predecessor in the same position, who had been hired nine
months prior to plaintiff. Id. at 447.

52. Id.
53. Id.
54. Id.
55. Id. When plaintiff applied for employment, she represented that she was a

graduate from Birmingham Southern University. Id. at 450. Plaintiffs college education
became an issue both at trial and on appeal when defendant raised the equitable doctrine
of unclean hands, asserting that plaintiff had lied about going to college, and therefore she
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during her employment with defendant, plaintiff was one of only two
blacks in defendant's entire work force.5"

Shortly after resigning, plaintiff filed a motion to intervene in an on-
going Title VII race claim that had been brought by plaintiffs former
black co-worker.5" The district court denied plaintiffs motion to
intervene because of the differing nature of the two claims.5" However,
it treated plaintiff's motion as a separate Title VII disparate treatment
wage action and allowed plaintiff to proceed to trial upon the basis of
her co-worker's administrative charge.59 After a two day bench trial,
the district court adduced that defendant was guilty of discriminating
against plaintiff in relation to her wages.' However, it also found
plaintiffs wage claim was the product of a single discrete act that
occurred at the time she was hired and concluded that since this isolated
act of discrimination had occurred more than 180 days prior to the filing
date of her co-worker's administrative charge, plaintiff's claim was time
barred.6

In reversing the district court, the Eleventh Circuit concluded that the
lower court's finding that the instance of discrimination was discrete and
isolated was clearly erroneous.62 According to the court of appeals, the
wage discrimination perpetrated by defendant constituted a continuing
violation of Title VII that was repeated each time plaintiff received a
paycheck, if not every day she appeared for work."

Disparate Impact Cases. The Eleventh Circuit entertained only
one Title VII disparate impact case during the survey period. Fitzpa-
trick v. City of Atlanta" involved a group of black fire fighters em-
ployed by the City of Atlanta, who alleged that the City's "no beard"

should not be allowed to recover on her Title VII claim. Id. The district court declined to
reach the issue of unclean hands as it found plaintiffs action time barred. Id. The
Eleventh Circuit concluded that an unclean hands defense was inapplicable because
plaintiffs lie about her education was not directly related to her wage claim, and in any
event, defendant did not show it was personally injured by her falsehood. Id. at 451.

56. Id. at 447. The only other black employee during this period was a female named
Ivory Steward, who was fired by defendant in February of 1988. Id.

57. Id. Steward filed a charge with the EEOC alleging that similarly situated
caucasians and males were treated more favorably than her with regard to wages,
discharge, and terms and conditions of employment. Id.

58. Id.
59. Id. at 447-48.
60. Id. at 448.
61. Id.
62. Id. at 449.
63. Id. See Bazemore v. Friday, 478 U.S. 385,396 n.6 (1986) (Brennan, J., concurring).
64. 2 F.3d 1112 (l1th Cir. 1993).
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policy had a disparate impact upon them because they suffered from a
dermatological condition known as pseudo-folliculitis barbae ("PFB"),
which became irritated when they were clean shaven.65 The City
moved for summary judgment on two grounds.66 First, it asserted that
plaintiffs had failed to adduce that PFB was a disorder that dispropor-
tionately affects black males so as to make the City's no beard policy
discriminatory.67 Second, the City maintained that its no beard policy
was necessary under the circumstances because firemen often had to
enter smoke filled structures wearing self-contained breathing appara-
tuses ("SCBAs") and that these SCBAs did not properly function unless
the masks of the SCBAs formed a tight seal with the wearer's face.'
Consequently, the City contended that the presence of facial hair, in any
amount, compromised the effectiveness of the SCBAs and therefore
created a legitimate safety risk that justified the implementation of the
no beard policy.6" On the basis of the City's contention that genuine
safety concerns motivated the implementation of the no beard policy, the
district court granted the City's motion for summary judgment.7 °

On appeal, plaintiffs contended that the City's safety concerns did not
adequately justify the implementation of the no beard policy and further
asserted that even if such concerns were legitimate, the City could,
nonetheless, implement a less discriminatory policy than its strict no
beard policy.7 Specifically, plaintiffs offered two alternative policies.
Under the first alternative, plaintiffs suggested that the City return to
using its previous "shadow beard" policy.72 In support of this theory,
plaintiffs argued that this policy had been used for several years without
any resulting injuries.7" Second, plaintiffs suggested that a policy
requiring the shaving of only the portions of the face coming into contact
with the mask would be sufficient to remove any safety considerations
and would also be less discriminatory.74 The Eleventh Circuit affirmed

65. Id. at 1114.
66. Id. at 1118.
67. Id.
68. Id. at 1118-20. The City supported its business necessity defense with an affidavit

from the United States Occupational Safety and Health Administration ("OSHA"), which
concluded that respirator use by individuals with facial hair could be hazardous. Id. at
1119.

69. Id. at 1119.
70. Id. at 1115.
71. Id. at 1122.
72, Id.
73. Id. at 1120.
74. Id.
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the district court's order granting summary judgment." The panel held
that the City's no beard policy was a legitimate business necessity under
the circumstances and further discounted both of plaintiffs' proposed
alternatives.76 As for the shadow beard alternative, the court conclud-
ed that the City had shown that the existence of any facial hair created
a safety risk and the mere fact that no injuries had resulted during the
period the shadow beard policy was in use did not a fortiori demonstrate
that shadow beards were safe.77 Similarly, the court of appeals noted
that plaintiffs had failed to adduce any evidence that the shaving of
specific portions of their faces created a viable, less discriminatory
alternative.7"

Retaliation Cases. In Goldsmith v. City of Atmore," a black
female city worker sued both the City of Atmore and its mayor alleging
that she had been subjected to a retaliatory employment transfer."
Plaintiff had held the position of clerical worker in the city clerk's office
from 1979 until 1988, when she applied for the position of city clerk."1

When the position of city clerk was awarded to a white female instead
of plaintiff, she told an incumbent city councilman that she intended to
file a charge of racial discrimination with the EEOC.82 The councilman
thereafter notified the mayor of plaintiff's threat, who subsequently
summoned plaintiff into his office, told her that the position of city clerk
had been filled, and that "there was nothing [she] could do about it."'
Approximately three weeks thereafter, plaintiff was transferred from the
city clerk's office to a clerical position within the city library."
Although she acquiesced to the transfer, plaintiff promptly filed a Title
VII charge of retaliation with the EEOC, alleging that she had been
transferred for revealing her intention to file a charge of racial
discrimination against the City.

In her subsequent civil action, plaintiff claimed that defendants had
discriminated and retaliated against her in violation of both Title VII

75. Id. at 1122-23.
76. Id.
77. Id. at 1120.
78. Id. at 1122. Moreover, the court of appeals noted that plaintiffs did not appear

particularly interested in pursuing the partial shaving alternative. Id. at 1122 n.10.
79. 996 F.2d 1155 (lth Cir. 1993).
80. Id. at 1157.
81. Id.
82. Id.
83. Id.
84. Id. Although plaintiff was transferred, her rate of pay remained the same. Id.
85. Id.
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and Section 1981.' Plaintiff's action was tried before a jury, which
returned a verdict in her favor and awarded her both compensatory and
punitive damages, in accordance with the damages provisions of the
Civil Rights Act of 1991.87 The City promptly moved for judgment
notwithstanding the verdict ("JNOV"), which the court summarily
denied.'

On appeal, the City asserted that the district court had erred and that
it was entitled to a judgment as a matter of law because the City, under
Title VII, could not be held liable for the acts of its mayor' and, in any
event, plaintiff had failed to establish sufficient evidence to either prove
a prima facie case for retaliation' or otherwise prove that the City's
proffered reasons for transferring her were pretextual. The Eleventh
Circuit, in reversing and remanding the retaliatory transfer decision to
the district court upon the basis of both the Title VII and Section 1981
verdicts, nonetheless noted that retaliatory transfers are actionable
under Title VII.' The circuit court categorically rejected the City's
first claim that it could not be held accountable for the acts of its
mayor.93 Noting that the mayor was undoubtedly an agent of the City
when acting within his mayoral capacity, the court of appeals ruled that
the district court did not err by allowing the jury to conclude that the
mayor was acting within the scope of his authority when he transferred
plaintiff." Similarly, the circuit court concluded that sufficient
circumstantial evidence existed at trial to support a finding that plaintiff
had established a prima facie case of retaliation under Title VII and that
the City's reasons for transferring plaintiff were pretextual.95

B. Procedural Matters

Timeliness of Charge/Complaint. The Eleventh Circuit was
confronted with the question of whether timely Title VII complaints had

86. Id, at 1158.
87. Id. at 1159. Plaintiff also brought a claim against the mayor pursuant to 42 U.S.C.

§ 1983, but abandoned this theory of liability when she was unable to establish that she
possessed any property interest in her position as a clerical worker in the city clerk's office.
Id. at 1158.

88. Id. at 1159.
89. Id. at 1161-62.
90. Id.
91. Id. at 1163.
92. Id. at 1159-60, 1162.
93. Id. at 1162.
94. Id.
95. Id. at 1163-64.

1994] 1269



MERCER LAW REVIEW

been brought by a group of eleven plaintiffs in Ross v. Buckeye Cellulose
Corp.'s Ross involved several black technicians employed at. defen-
dant's Flint River plant, who challenged that defendant's practice of
paying wages, pursuant to its Pay and Progression ("P & P") System,
had a disparate impact upon* blacks."

By design, the P & P System was intended to objectively grade
promotions and pay raises via a process wherein an employee's
performance and skill was evaluated along with the employee's desired
career aspirations." After a few years, however, the P & P System was
radically altered and became a subjectively based program in which few
standards existed to either guide or control management's decisions
regarding pay raises and career advancement." Under the modified P
& P System, the issuance of wage increases became highly individual-
ized and arbitrary until late 1984, when defendant froze all wages under
the P & P System due to high costs and declining productivity at the
Flint River plant.' This wage freeze lasted from October, 1984 until
1987, when a revised P & P System was implemented."0

After filing administrative charges with the EEOC in the spring of
1985, these technicians, between 1985 and 1988, filed lawsuits against
defendant alleging that defendant's P & P System had a disparate
impact upon blacks in violation of Title VII" 2 These separate actions
were subsequently consolidated by the United States District Court for
the Middle District of Georgia. 03 At trial, the district court found that
although more than 180 days passed from the date of the October, 1984
wage freeze until the filing of plaintiffs' administrative charges with the
EEOC in the spring of 1985, plaintiffs could maintain their lawsuits by
virtue of the continuing violation theory0 4 and the doctrine of equita-
ble tolling. 5 Specifically, the district court ruled that the 1984 wage
freeze, as opposed to the P & P System, constituted a discriminatory
practice that had a continuing disparate impact.' ° Furthermore, the
district court concluded that plaintiffs were entitled to equitably toll the

96. 980 F.2d 648 (11th Cir. 1993).
97. Id. at 650-51. Although Ross came before the court of appeals regarding issues

of disparate impact, these claims were resolved upon procedural grounds. Id.
98. Id. at 651.
99. Id.

100. Id. at 651-52.
101. Id. at 652.
102. Id.
103. Id.
104. Id. at 660.
105. Id.
106. Id. at 654-60.
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180 day limitations period because they were not reasonably capable of
discerning that they were being unlawfully victimized by defendant's
wage practices because "certain necessary information" crucial to such
a realization was not being disseminated to them.10 7 As a result of
these conclusions, the district court found six of the eleven plaintiffs had
proven that the P & P System did have a racially based disparate impact
upon them, and, in a separate hearing, awarded them damages,
prejudgment interest, and attorney fees. 08

On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit reversed the district court's judgment
upon finding that the 180 day limitations period barred plaintiffs from
maintaining their actions.'" The court of appeals found that as a
result of the October, 1984 wage freeze, the last possible date for filing
a timely Title VII charge had expired well prior to the dates plaintiffs
filed their charges with the EEOC and that consequently, plaintiffs'
claims were time barred.110 In reversing the district court, the court
of appeals rejected both the continuing violation and equitable tolling
theories upon which the lower court relied."' Regarding the continu-
ing violation theory, the Eleventh Circuit ruled that the district court
erred in concluding that the wage freeze was capable of having a
continually discriminatory effect by giving the P & P System a "present
legal significance."" 2 According to the court, the wage freeze in late
1984 was a single occurrence that brought to a halt any disparately
discriminatory pay practices that may have existed as a result of the P
& P System."' Similarly, the circuit court rejected, as clearly errone-
ous, the district court's finding that the theory of equitable tolling should
be employed because the technicians had no reason to believe that
defendant was discriminating against them.114  According to the
Eleventh Circuit, numerous instances existed within the court record to
demonstrate that plaintiffs were of the opinion that they were being
subjected to racially discriminatory employment practices during the
charge filing period." 5

In Goldsmith v. City of Atmore,"6 an additional basis the City
raised in appealing the jury's verdict on plaintiffs Title VII retaliation

107. Id. at 660.
108. Id. at 653.
109. Id. at 658-60.
110. Id. at 660.
111. Id.
112. Id. (citing Ross v. Buckeye Cellulose Corp., 733 F. Supp. 344,356 (M.D. Ga. 1989)).
113. Id.
114. Id. at 661-62.
115. Id. at 662.
116. 996 F.2d 1155 (11th Cir. 1993).
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claim concerned whether or not plaintiff had timely filed suit after
receiving the EEOC's notice of right to sue."7 Plaintiff received the
right to sue notice on June 25, 1990 and filed her first pleading,
consisting of the notice of right to sue and a handwritten memorandum,
with the district court fifty-six days later.11 The City contended that
plaintiff's filings did not comply with the technical pleading require-
ments necessary to initiate a civil action in federal court and that since
plaintiff did not file a valid complaint until a date four days beyond the
ninety day limit prescribed by Title VII, her retaliation claim was time
barred." 9

The Eleventh Circuit acknowledged that plaintiff's initial filing, which
contained no prayer for relief, was insufficient to initiate a civil action
even when applying the liberal pleading standards afforded by the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.120 Nevertheless, it held that in light
of the fact that plaintiff filed her action pro se and had complied with
the brief instructions set forth on the right to sue notice when filing her
initial pleading with the court, the ninety day period would be equitably
tolled until September 28, 1990.121

Single Filing Rule. In Calloway v. Partners National Health
Plans,22 the Eleventh Circuit resolved the issue of whether or not the
district court had appropriately allowed plaintiff to maintain her Title
VII lawsuit, under the "single filing rule," upon the basis of her co-
worker's administrative charge."2 On appeal, defendant argued that
even if its wage payments to plaintiff constituted a continuing violation
under Title VII, plaintiff could not maintain her lawsuit by bootstrap-
ping a co-worker's independent administrative charge."2 Defendant,
in challenging the district court's decision, did not dispute that plaintiff
had satisfied the essential requirements of invoking the single filing
rule, since she had relied on her co-worker's charge in a timely fashion
and because her claim occurred as a result of similar discriminatory
treatment by her employer within the same time frame.'25 However,
defendant asserted that plaintiff should not be allowed to rely on her co-

117. Id. at 1160. See 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(1) (1988).
118, 996 F.2d at 1160-61.
119. Id.
120. Id. at 1161.
121. Id.
122. 986 F.2d 446 (11th Cir, 1993).
123. Id. at 449-50.
124. Id. at 449.
125. Id.
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worker's charge pursuant to the single filing rule because the events of
alleged discrimination in that charge in no way involved plaintiff.'26

The court of appeals, noting that this was a case of first impression
within the circuit, analyzed the history and purpose of the single filing
rule.'27 The court decided that since the EEOC had addressed the
substantially similar allegations raised in her co-worker's charge, the
district court did not err in applying the single filing rule to plaintiff's
separate lawsuit." s

Venue. In Ross v. Buckeye Cellulose Corp.,"2 the court of appeals
was asked to determine whether the district court had erred in
transferring the venue of plaintiffs' numerous Title VII actions to the
Middle District of Georgia.'8 Plaintiffs contended that the district
court had failed to consider whether or not Title VIIs venue provisions
provided them with the discretion to choose the forum in which to
maintain their actions.'' In particular, plaintiffs asserted that the
transfer of their actions to the Middle District was against their express
desires because they felt that the district's history of antipathy toward
black civil rights claimants would adversely impact the outcome of their
actions. 32

Noting that venue transfers were only reviewable under an abuse of
discretion standard, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the decision of the
district court." In so doing, the court of appeals noted that federal
statutory law regarding venue allowed a district court to make transfers
for the convenience of parties and witnesses, or for the interests of
justice. 34 Finding that all of the parties and most of the witnesses
had at one time been residents of the Middle District of Georgia, the
circuit court declined to find that the district court had abused its
discretion.

135

126. Id.
127. Id. at 449-50.
128. Id. at 450.
129. 980 F.2d 648 (11th Cir. 1993).
130. Id. at 654.
131. Id.
132. Id.
133. Id. at 655.
134, Id.
135. Id.
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I. REMEDIES UNDER TITLE VII

A. Damages and Jury Trials

As a result of the passage of the Civil Rights Act of 1991 (the "1991
Act"),13 Title VII plaintiffs may have their cases tried before a ju-
ry137 and may further be eligible to obtain awards of compensatory and
punitive damages, 33 up to varying threshold amounts, 3 ' in addition
to the traditional restitutionary remedies of front pay, back pay, and
reinstatement. The pivotal issues with regard to the availability of both
damages awards and jury trials, however, is dependent upon when the
Title VII action was initiated and whether the 1991 Act will be applied
retroactively to encompass conduct occurring prior to its November 21,
1991 effective date. As of the date of this survey, the issue of the 1991
Act's retroactive application is pending before the Supreme Court. 4"

The Eleventh Circuit has taken a very restrictive view regarding the
1991 Act's retroactive application.' Last year's survey article report-
ed the Baynes v. AT&T Technologies, Inc.12 decision, wherein the
circuit court refused to allow retroactive application of the Act in cases
in which a final judgment had been rendered prior to the Act's effective

136. Pub. L. No. 102-166, 105 Stat. 1071 (codified as amended at 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e-
2000e-17 as scattered sections (Supp. 1992)).

137. 42 U.S.C. § 1981a(c) (Supp. 1992).
138. Id. § 1981a(b) (Supp. 1992).
139. Id. § 1981a(b)(3) (Supp. 1992).
140. The Supreme Court granted certiorari to consider the retroactive application of

the 1991 Act in two cases. Landgrafv. USI Film Prods., 968 F.2d 427 (5th Cir. 1992), cert.
granted, 113 S. Ct. 1250 (1993) and Harvis v. Roadway Express, Inc., 973 F.2d 490 (6th
Cir. 1992), cert. granted sub nom., Rivers v. Roadway Express, Inc., 113 S. Ct. 1250 (1993).
At the time this Article was submitted in manuscript form, no rulings in either Landgraf
and Rivers had been issued by the United States Supreme Court. On April 26, 1994,
however, the Supreme Court issued tandem opinions in these cases, determining that
sections 101 and 102 of the Civil Rights Act of 1991 could not be retroactively applied to
cases which arose prior to the Act's November 21, 1991 effective date. Landgraf v. USI
Film Prods., 114 S. Ct. 1483, 1508 (1994) (section 102 of the 1991 Act was not retroactively
applicable); Rivers v. Roadway Express, Inc., 114 S. Ct. 1510, 1520 (1994) (section 101 of
the 1991 Act was not retroactively applicable).

141. See infra notes 142 and 144. See also Vance v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., 983
F.2d 1573 (11th Cir. 1993), infra note 264. In Vance, the circuit court considered whether
Section 101(2)(b) of the Civil Rights Act of 1991 (making discriminatory conduct occurring
after the formation of a contract actionable under 42 U.S.C. § 1981) should be retroactively
applied to an action in which a judgment had been rendered prior to the effective date of
the 1991 Act. Relying on its earlier ruling in Baynes, the court concluded that Section
101(2)(b) could not be applied retroactively in that action. 983 F.2d at 1577-78.

142. 976 F.2d 1370 (11th Cir. 1992).
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date. 43 Recently, the Eleventh Circuit has issued two additional Title
VII decisions that further curtail the retroactive applicability of the
Act.

144

In Curtis v. Metro Ambulance Service, Inc., the court of appeals
extended the preclusion of retroactive application of the Act's damages
and jury trial provisions to encompass conduct in pending cases that had
been initiated prior to the Act's effective date, but in which no final
judgment has been issued.14  Noting the exceptional impact that
retroactive application of the Act could have upon a plaintiffs case, Chief
Judge Tjoflat indicated that the issue of the retroactivity warranted an
en banc review. 146

The Eleventh Circuit again revisited the issue of whether the jury
trial and damages provisions of the Act should be retroactively applied.
In Goldsmith v. City of Atmore, 4 ' the district court approved a jury
verdict awarding plaintiff $15,000 in compensatory damages and an
additional $25,000 in punitive damages upon her Title VII and Section
1981 claims. 48  Noting that its prior ruling in Curtis precluded
retroactive application, the court of appeals struck down plaintiff's Title
VII damages award. 49

B. Attorney Fees

In EEOC v. Reichhold Chemicals, Inc.,5 ° the Eleventh Circuit was
asked to determine whether an award of attorney fees for a prevailing
defendant in a Title VII sex discrimination and retaliation case was
appropriately entered by the district court.' 5' Applying the standard
set forth by the Supreme Court in Christiansburg Garment Co. v.
EEOC,' the court of appeals ruled that the district court had erred
in awarding attorney fees to defendant.' According to the Eleventh
Circuit, fees under Title VII could not be awarded unless defendant
could prove that plaintiff's case was entirely frivolous.'54 Applying the

143. Id. at 1372 & n.1.
144. Curtis v. Metro Ambulance Serv., 982 F.2d 472 (11th Cir. 1993); Goldsmith v. City

of Atmore, 996 F.2d 1155 (11th Cir. 1993).
145. 982 F.2d at 473-74.
146. Id. at 474.
147. 996 F.2d 1155 (11th Cir. 1993).
148. Id. at 1159.
149. Id.
150. 988 F.2d 1564 (11th Cir. 1993).
151. Id. at 1565.
152. 434 U.S. 412 (1978).
153. 988 F.2d at 1571.
154. Id. at 1569.
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facts of the case to the Christiansburg model,1" the court of appeals
ruled that plaintiff, for the purposes of her Title VII wage claim, only
needed to show that she was paid less than a male employee when
performing substantially the same job functions in similar working
conditions."5 6 Although the court of appeals found that plaintiff's job
and that of her male comparator were not identical, it concluded that
plaintiff had demonstrated enough similarity between the two positions
to make her Title VII claim colorable, and as a result, set aside
defendant's fee award. 57

The Eleventh Circuit next addressed the issue of attorney fees under
Title VII in McKenzie v. Cooper, Levins & Pastko, Inc.5' McKenzie
involved an appeal over a fee award in excess of $200,000 that arose out
of a gender discrimination case wherein plaintiff only recovered
approximately $8,600 in back pay.15 Defendants, on appeal, mounted
three challenges to the district court's fee award. First, defendants
claimed that plaintiff's fee application, submitted twenty-three months
after the judgment was rendered, was untimely."t6 Second, defendants
asserted that the award was unreasonably excessive.'61 Third, defen-
dants argued that the fee award, containing a contingency enhancement,
was improper. 6 '

The Eleventh Circuit noted that although the fee application was
somewhat delinquent, plaintiff's delay in filing the application was the
result of her attorney's reliance upon representations by the district
court that a fee application did not need to be filed while the underlying
action was being appealed.'63 The circuit court also found that though
the fee award appeared questionable, the district court had found the fee
to be reasonable, and it did not appear that the lower court had abused
it discretion in reaching such a finding.' However, the Eleventh
Circuit did conclude that defendant's contention regarding the contingen-

155. Id. Under the Christiansburg standard, a fee award for a prevailing defendant
is more difficult to obtain than for a prevailing plaintiff for two reasons: "(1) Congress
chose the plaintiff as a means to vindicate an important public policy; and (2) a fee award
to a plaintiff is assessed against a violator of federal law, whereas a fee award to a
defendant is determined against a merely improvident litigant." Id. at 1568 (citing
Christiansburg Garment Co. v. EEOC, 434 U.S. at 418).

156. Id. at 1569-70.
157. Id. at 1570-71.
158. 990 F.2d 1183 (11th Cir. 1993).
159. Id. at 1184.
160. Id. at 1185.
161. Id.
162. Id. at 1185-86.
163. Id. at 1185.
164. Id.
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cy enhancement had merit. 6' Between the date of the lower court's
entry of the fee award and the circuit court's consideration of this
appeal, contingency enhancements had been removed from the lodestar
fee calculation process. 166  Accordingly, the circuit court reduced the
fee award to $121,435.63 by deleting the contingency enhancement and
otherwise affirmed the district court's judgment."6 7

III. AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT

A Theories of Liability and Burdens of Proof

In Hazen Paper Co. v. Biggins,' the United States Supreme Court
considered its only Age Discrimination in Employment Act ("ADEA7)
case during the survey period. This decision may have a major impact
on a disparate impact theory of liability under the law, for the Court
held that it is not sufficient for an ADEA plaintiff to merely show that
the employer's action was based on some factor such as seniority or
pension status that is empirically correlated with age.169 Rather, for
a violation of the ADEA to occur, the employer's action must be based on
the employee's age. 70

Plaintiff was hired as the company's technical director in 1977 and
discharged in 1986 when he was sixty-two years old, purportedly for
doing business with competitors. Plaintiff was only a few weeks from
becoming vested under the company's pension plan, which had a ten-
year vesting requirement. Plaintiff claimed that his age had been a
determinative factor in the decision to fire him.171 He brought suit
alleging, inter alia, violation of the ADEA and Section 510 of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA)." The

165. Id. at 1186.
166. Id. The court noted that in June of 1992, the Supreme Court, in its decision in

City of Burlington v. Dague, 112 S. Ct. 2638 (1992), had ruled that enhancements for
contingency are not permitted under federal fee shifting statutes. 990 F.2d at 1186.

167. 990 F.2d at 1186.
168. 113 S. Ct. 1701 (1993).
169. Id. at 1705.
170. Id.
171. Id. at 1704.
172. Section 510 provides in pertinent part:

It shall be unlawful for any person to discharge, fine, suspend, expel, discipline,
or discriminate against a participant or beneficiary for exercising any right to
which he is entitled under the provisions of an employee benefit plan,. . . or for
the purpose of interfering with the attainment of any right to which such
participant may become entitled under the plan ....

29 U.S.C. § 1140 (1988).
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case was tried to a jury that found that defendants had willfully violated
the ADEA.'73 It also found violations of ERISA.' 74 The district court
granted defendants' motion for JNOV on the finding of willfulness as
well as one state law claim, but let the rest of the jury verdict stand. 75

On appeal, the First Circuit affirmed judgment for plaintiff on both
the ADEA and ERISA counts and reversed JNOV for defendants as to
willfulness.17  The court of appeals relied heavily on evidence that
suggested that plaintiff had been fired in order to prevent his pension
benefits from vesting.177 Aside from evidence of the ten-year vesting
period, there was testimony at trial that prior to his termination, the
company had offered to retain plaintiff as a consultant, in which capacity
he would not have been entitled to receive pension benefits. 17

The United States Supreme Court remanded the case for the court of
appeals to reconsider whether the jury had sufficient evidence to find an
ADEA violation. 179 In doing so, the Court emphasized that only when
the employee's protected trait (in this case age) actually plays a role in
the employer's decision-making process and has a determinative
influence on the outcome, can a disparate treatment claim succeed.80

There is no disparate treatment under the ADEA, according to the
Court, when the factor motivating the employer is some feature other
than the employee's age. 81 The mere fact that a "motivating factor is
correlated with age," is not sufficient.8 2 Simply stated, an employer
does not violate the ADEA just by interfering with an older employee's
pension benefits. However, the Court was careful to stress that such
conduct would be actionable under Section 510 of ERISA.' ss

In Clark v. Coats & Clark, Inc. (Clark III)A' the Eleventh Circuit

173, 113 S. Ct. at 1704.
174. Id.
175. Id.
176. Id.
177. Id.
178. Id. The First Circuit panel found that this evidence was enough for the jury to

have concluded that plaintiff's age was "inextricably intertwined" with the decision to
terminate him. Id. at 1705. The court of appeals also found that plaintiff had presented
sufficient evidence of willfulness to satisfy the standard set forth in Trans World Airlines,
Inc. v. Thurston, 469 U.S. 111 (1985). 113 S. Ct. at 1705.

179. 113 S. Ct. at 1708.
180. Id. at 1706.
181. Id.
182. Id.
183. Id. at 1707.
184. 990 F.2d 1217 (11th Cir. 1993) This appeal marked the third occasion that the

Eleventh Circuit reviewed this case. In Clark v. Coats & Clark, Inc., 865 F.2d 1237 (Clark
1) (11th Cir. 1989), the Eleventh Circuit determined, inter alia, that Clark had filed a
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reversed the award of summary judgment to the employer on plaintiff's
ADEA disparate treatment claim.8' Clark had worked for the compa-
ny for thirty-eight years before his separation. He contended that he
was forced to accept early retirement in violation of both ERISA and the
ADEA. At the time of his early retirement Clark was fifty-eight years
old. The district court once again granted summary judgment to the
company on Clark's ADEA cause of action because the court determined
that Clark had failed to present facts sufficient to show that he was
forced to retire in violation of the ADEA or to prove that defendants'
articulated business reasons for its treatment of Clark were pretex-
tual.1

86

On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit agreed with the district court that
plaintiff had failed to present direct evidence of age discrimination.'87

According to plaintiff, he had been told he had to retire but no reason
had been given to him as to why. The Eleventh Circuit found that even
if this version of the facts was accepted, there was direct evidence that
plaintiff was involuntarily retired but the discriminatory intent
motivating that decision would have to be inferred.' On the other
hand, the Eleventh Circuit disagreed with the district court's conclusion
that Clark had failed to establish a prima facie case of age discrimina-
tion under the McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green"" scheme. 90 More
specifically, the Court found that there was deposition testimony that
plaintiff had been replaced by an individual outside the protected group
and that the replacement actually had fewer responsibilities than
plaintiff. According to the court, this evidence was sufficient to establish
that plaintiff was replaced rather than reduced as a result of a reduction
in force.

19'

timely administrative charge of age discrimination and therefore reversed the district
court's order closing the ADEA claim. 865 F.2d at 1245. We first reported on Clark in
Dickinson & Margulies, Employment Discrimination, 41 MERCER L. REV. 1303, 1334-35
(1990). Following remand in which the district court granted summary judgment to Clark
after concluding that Clark had failed to establish a prima facie case of forced retirement
under the ADEA, the Eleventh Circuit, in Clark v. Coats & Clark, Inc., 929 F.2d 604 (Clark
II) (11th Cir. 1991), again reversed and remanded the case to the district court to
determine whether there was indeed the absence of any genuine issue of material fact
under Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317 (1986). 929 F.2d at 608-09.

185. 990 F.2d at 1230.
186. Id. at 1221-22.
187. Id. at 1226.
188. Id.
189. 411 U.S. 792 (1973).
190. 990 F.2d at 1227.
191. Id.
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The Eleventh Circuit also pointed to facts in the record suggesting
that the number of employees had increased at the time Clark stopped
working and that reprimands received by Clark prior to his separation
did not establish that he was unqualified for purposes of the McDonnell
Douglas test.'92 Finally, the court concluded that plaintiff had intro-
duced sufficient evidence to show that the reason asserted by the
company was merely a pretext for discrimination."9 8 The Eleventh
Circuit relied upon deposition testimony that the company had offered
Clark early retirement and that its decision to offer him early retirement
was based on age as well as performance.'"

B. Defenses to Discrimination---Definition of Subterfuge

Prior to December 31, 1993, Section 4(j) of the ADEA 95 exempted
firefighters and law enforcement officers from the ADEA's ban on forced
retirement. In order to fall within this temporary exemption, the state
employer had to satisfy two prongs. First, the mandatory retirement law
must have been no more restrictive than the retirement rule in place on
March 3, 1983.' Second, the mandatory retirement law must have
been part of a "bona fide hiring or retirement plan that was not a
subterfuge to evade the purposes of [the ADEA]." 97

In Knight v, State of Georgia,198 a case of first impression, the
Eleventh Circuit addressed the ADEA's firefighters/law enforcement
officer exemption. The facts were not in dispute. Georgia's statute,
which had not been amended since 1978, provided that as of 1975, all
troopers had to retire by the age of fifty-five.' Knight claimed, and
the district court agreed, that the Georgia statute was a subterfuge to
evade the purposes of the ADEA, and therefore it was not shielded by

192. Id.
193. Id. at 1228.
194. Id.
195. 29 U.S.C. § 623(j) (1988) provides as follows:

It shall not be unlawful for an employer which is a State, a political subdivision
of a State, an agency or instrumentality of a State or a political subdivision of a
State, or an interstate agency to fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any
individual because of such individual's age if such action is taken-(1) With
respect to the employment of an individual as a firefighter or as a law enforcement
officer and the individual has attained the age of hiring or retirement in effect
under applicable State or local law on March 3, 1983, and (2) pursuant to a bona
fide hiring or retirement plan that is not a subterfuge to evade the purposes of
this Act.

196. Id.
197. Id.
198. 992 F.2d 1541 (11th Cir. 1993).
199. Id. at 1543.
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the Section 4(j) exception to the ADEA's ban on mandatory retirement
rules." In so concluding, the district court denied defendant's motion
for summary judgment, but certified its order as one appropriate for
interlocutory review pursuant to Section 1292(b).2 '

On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit determined that it was appropriate
to draw upon the substantial body of case law interpreting the "subter-
fuge" language that, until 1990, had also appeared in Section 4(f)(2)02
of the ADEA.' The panel noted that the subterfuge language of
Section 4(j) was borrowed nearly verbatim from the former Section
4(f).24 Despite the fact that Congress passed the Older Workers
Benefit Protection Act ("OWBPA")205 in 1990, thereby excising the term
subterfuge from Section 4(f)(2) (so as to overturn the construction given
to the section by the Supreme Court in Public Employees Retirement
System v. Betts),"5 the Eleventh Circuit determined to use the pre-
OWBPA interpretation of subterfuge because Congress had not chosen
to redefine the term, but instead removed the term altogether from
Section 4(f).207 The court of appeals reasoned that had Congress
intended to redefine the term subterfuge as it appears in Section 4(j), it
would have done so expressly."°

200. Id.
201. Id. 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b) (1988) provides in pertinent part:

When a district judge, in making in a civil action an order not otherwise
appealable under this section, shall be of the opinion that such order involves a
controlling question of law as to which there is substantial ground for difference
of opinion and that an immediate appeal from the order may materially advance
the ultimate termination of the litigation, he shall so state in writing in such order

202. 29 U.S.C. § 623(fX2) (1988) provided as follows:
It shall not be unlawful for an employer, employment agency, or labor

organization-

(2) to observe the terms of a bona fide seniority system or any bona fide employee
benefit plan such as a retirement, pension, or insurance plan, which is not a
subterfuge to evade the purposes of [the ADEA] ....

203. 992 F.2d at 1545. The Eleventh Circuit cited Trans World Airlines, Inc. v.
Thurston, 469 U.S. 111 (1985), for the proposition that where two or more statutory
provisions have a special relationship (such as verbatim language), courts apply similar
construction to the provisions. 992 F.2d at 1545.

204. 992 F.2d at 1545.
205. 29 U.S.C. §§ 623(i)-623(1) (Supp. 1992).
206. 492 U.S. 158 (1989).
207. 992 F.2d at 1546. Because the court of appeals determined that the 1990

amendments did not change the meaning of the term "subterfuge" as it appears in section
4(j), the court reserved ruling on the issue of whether or not the OWBPA applies
retroactively to employment actions predating the statute's enactment. Id. n.5.

208. Id. at 1546.
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The Eleventh Circuit also reasoned that applying the cost-benefit
standard now found in Section 4(f) to firefighters and law enforcement
officers was not sensible as concerns of safety, not cost, motivate
mandatory retirement policies for firefighters and law enforcement
officers.20 9 According to the Eleventh Circuit, if the cost-benefits
standard was to be applied under Section 4(j), the OWBPA would have
in essence repealed, or at least narrowed, the exemption sub silentio, as
such a construction of implied repeal is disfavored.20  After applying
the Betts definition of subterfuge to the Georgia mandatory retirement
policy, the Eleventh Circuit concluded that the policy fell within the
Section 4(j) exemption.21 '

C. Willful Violations

Under section 7(b) of the ADEA,1 2 employees may recover, in
addition to back wages, an equal amount as liquidated damages for
willful violations of the Act. Liquidated damages are unpaid wages or
unpaid overtime compensation. In Trans World Airlines, Inc. v.
Thurston,213 the Supreme Court unanimously held that in order to
establish a willful violation of the ADEA, a plaintiff must prove that the
employer "knew or showed reckless disregard for the matter of whether
its conduct was prohibited by the ADEA."214  Since Thurston was
handed down, there has been a debate among the courts over what must
be shown to make out a finding of willfulness for purposes of awarding
liquidated damages under the ADEA. Because Thurston involved a
facially discriminatory policy, several courts of appeals have held that
a more stringent standard should be applied when an employer acts on
an ad hoc basis without a policy. For example, the Third Circuit has
refused to impose liquidated damages in "informal" cases unless the
employer's conduct was found to be "outrageous";215 the Eighth Circuit
has required that evidence of willful conduct be direct rather than
circumstantial;2 16 and the Sixth217  and Tenth Circuits218  have

209. Id.
210. Id. (citing Rodriguez v. United States, 480 U.S. 522, 524 (1987), and Randall v.

Loftsgarden, 478 U.S. 647 (1986)).
211. Id. at 1548.
212, 29 U.S.C. § 626(b) (1988).
213. 469 U.S. 111 (1985).
214. Id. at 126 (quoting Air Line Pilots Ass'n v. Trans World Air Lines, 713 F.2d 940,

956 (2d Cir. 1983) (citing Goodman v. Heublein, Inc., 645 F.2d 127, 131 (2d Cir. 1981))).
215. Lockhart v. Westinghouse Credit Corp., 879 F.2d 43, 57-58 (3rd Cir. 1989); Dreyer

v. Arco Chemical Co., 801 F.2d 651, 657 (3rd Cir. 1986).
216. Newfeld v. Searle Lab., 884 F.2d 335, 340 (8th Cir. 1989).
217. Schrand v. Federal Pacific Elec. Co., 851 F.2d 152, 158 (6th Cir. 1988).
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required that age be the predominant factor, not just a determinative
factor, in motivating the discharge. Although the Eleventh Circuit has
suggested that the Supreme Court's adoption of a knowing or reckless
disregard standard for awarding liquidated damages may be better
suited for disparate impact cases than for disparate treatment cases, the
court has tended to reject a modified version of the Thurston stan-
dard.219

In Hazen Paper Co. v. Biggins,220 a unanimous Supreme Court
concluded that liquidated damages are proper once a willful violation
has been shown, without any additional direct evidence of the employer's
motivation or demonstration that the conduct was outrageous or that age
was a predominant factor in the decision. 221 The Court expressed
surprise at the response of the circuit courts to its interpretation of
Section 7(b).222 In particular, the Court deemed "misplaced" some fear
in the circuit courts of appeals that a literal application of the Thurston
test would result in a finding that all violations were willful, on the
theory that every employer who engages in informal age discrimination
knows or recklessly disregards the illegality of its conduct.22 3

The Supreme Court dismissed any distinction between discrimination
by means of a formal policy and discrimination accomplished on an
informal basis, observing that "an employer's reluctance to acknowledge
its reliance on the forbidden factor should not cut against imposing a
penalty."224 But the Court noted that not every use of age automati-
cally leads to liability for liquidated damages.225 For example, when
the Thurston standard is applied to an employer's incorrect, but good-
faith, belief that its age-based decision is permitted as a bona fide
occupational qualification or under an exemption, such liability is
precluded, according to the Court.22 This unanimous decision of the
high Court will certainly make it harder for an employer to avoid a
finding of willfulness under the ADEA.

218. Spulak v. K Mart Corp., 894 F.2d 1150, 1159 (10th Cir. 1990).
219. Lindseyv. American Cast Iron Pipe Co., 810 F.2d 1094, 1100 (lth Cir. 1987). See

also Formby v. Farmers & Merchants Bank, 904 F.2d 627, 632 (11th Cir. 1990).
220. 113 S. Ct. 1701 (1993).
221. Id. at 1710.
222. Id. at 1709.
223. Id.
224. Id. at 1709-10.
225. Id. at 1709.
226. Id. (citing McLaughlin v. Richland Shoe Co., 486 U.S. 128, 135 n.13 (1988)).
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D. Procedural Matters

Judgment As A Matter Of Law/New Trial. In Walls v. Button
Gwinnett Bancorp, Inc.,227 the Eleventh Circuit reviewed the district
court's order granting the employer's motion for judgment as a matter
of law and alternative post-trial motion for a new trial.22' Plaintiff,
who had successfully obtained a jury verdict for her ADEA disparate
treatment claim, argued that there was substantial evidence presented
to the jury to support the jury's conclusion that she had been discharged
because of her age and that the district court had abused its discretion
in granting defendants a new trial.'

The Eleventh Circuit reversed the district court and ordered the
district court to reinstate the jury verdict in plaintiff's favor.2 ' The
Eleventh Circuit relied upon evidence that the employer's executive, who
asked plaintiff to resign, had admitted in his deposition that he "tended
to look at age when reviewing personnel files" and that at trial he
testified that he often joked about age and that he had probably
commented about plaintiff's age just weeks before he had asked her to
resign." This, coupled with plaintiff's introduction of evidence that
she was fifty-nine years old when she was discharged, that she had good
reviews and had received a recent promotion, and that the employer had
hired a thirty-three year old male to act as a consultant three days after
her termination was, according to the Eleventh Circuit, sufficiently
substantial evidence for a jury to conclude that the employer's justifica-
tions (which included that it had eliminated plaintiff's position and that
it needed a new management team with commercial banking experience)
were pretextual. 2

Inconsistent Jury Verdict. In Edwards v. Board of Regents,"3

the Eleventh Circuit was asked to decide whether or not the jury's
damages award was inconsistent so as to support the district court's
order granting defendant's motion for JNOV.2 4 Plaintiff, a speech and
drama professor at the University of Georgia, alleged that the university
had retaliated against him for complaining of reverse age discrimination

227. 1 F.3d 1198 (11th Cir. 1993).
228. Id. at 1199.
229. Id. at 1199-1200.
230. Id. at 1200.
231. Id. at 1199-1200.
232. Id. at 1200-01.
233. 2 F.3d 382 (11th Cir. 1993).
234. Id. at 383.
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by changing his classes and giving him raises below those of other
faculty. Defendant contended that plaintiff had failed to comply with
procedures and was a poor teacher. The jury returned a verdict for
plaintiff and awarded him approximately $6,000 in back pay, but
determined that plaintiff was not entitled to an award of liquidated
damages.' The jury did not indicate which of plaintiff's claims it
found to be meritorious. Defendant did not object to either the jury
instructions or to the form of a verdict."5

The district court granted defendant's motion for JNOV which had
argued that the verdict was factually unsupported or legally inconsis-
tent. 2 7 The district court reasoned that there was insufficient evi-
dence to support a finding of actual age discrimination. The district
court also determined that the verdict must not have been based upon
plaintiff's retaliation claim because, the court assumed, retaliation would
inherently involve a willful violation of the ADEA, and the jury's failure
to award liquidated damages meant that no willful act of wrongdoing
had occurred." 5

Applying a de novo standard of review, the Eleventh Circuit found
that the district court had erred in granting plaintiff's motion for
JNOV.239 Interestingly, the panel side-stepped the issue of whether or

not reverse discrimination is, as a matter of law, ever covered by the
ADEA. This issue was avoided as the court of appeals determined that
the record did not support plaintiff's case of actual age discrimina-
tion.Y

On the other hand, the Eleventh Circuit determined that the record
did support a finding of retaliation. While the panel reasoned that the
jury's failure to award liquidated damages for retaliation may have been
erroneous, it found that the trial court should have only considered the
sufficiency of the evidence to support a verdict for plaintiff.24' The
Eleventh Circuit was careful to point out that it was not deciding the
question of whether retaliation under the ADEA must always be a
willful act for which liquidated damages should be awarded. 2 The

235. Id. at 382-83.
236. Id. at 383. The verdict read: "We, the jury, find for the Plaintiff and award

damages for back pay in the amount of $6,085.00. We determine that the Plaintiff is not
entitled to be awarded liquidated damages." Id.

237. Id.
238. Id. n.3.
239. Id. at 383.
240. Id.
241. Id. at 383-84.
242. Id. at 384. The Eleventh Circuit noted that there was some authority for this

proposition, citing Grant v. Hazelett Strip-Casting Corp., 880 F.2d 1564 (2d Cir. 1989). Id.
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court also discounted defendant's argument that Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure Rule 49(b)243 permits trial courts to grant JNOV motions
when a general verdict is inconsistent with answers to interrogato-
ries.2' The court held that the jury's decision not to award liquidated
damages was not a response to a written interrogatory, but rather, was
part of the general verdict and therefore rule 49(b) did not apply.245

IV. THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973

In Fitzpatrick v. City of Atlanta,2' plaintiffs who opposed the City's
no beard policy upon the basis that it had a disparate impact upon
blacks, also asserted that their condition, PFB, constituted a handicap
as defined by the Rehabilitation Act of 1973"4 and that the City's
policy discriminated against them upon the basis of their handicap.248

Specifically, plaintiffs brought suit alleging that the City had violated
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act,"4 which requires recipients of
federal financial assistance, such as the City, to provide reasonable
accomodations to handicapped individuals who are otherwise capable of
performing the essential functions of the job.250 Plaintiffs argued that
both a shadow beard policy and a policy that would allow them to shave
only the portions of their faces necessary to maintain tight seals when
using SCBAs, were reasonable accommodations which the City refused
to entertain.25'

The district court, in granting the City's motion for summary
judgment, based its determination on two grounds. First, the court

n.5.
243. FED. R. Civ. P. 49(b) provides in pertinent part:

The court may submit to the jury, together with appropriate forms for a general
verdict, written interrogatories upon one or more issues of fact the decision of
which is necessary to a verdict.... The court shall direct the jury both to make
written answers and to render a general verdict.

... When the answers are consistent with each other but one or more is
inconsistent with the general verdict, judgment may be entered pursuant to rule
58 in accordance with the answers, notwithstanding the general verdict, or the
court may return the jury for further consideration of its answers and verdict or
may order a new trial ....

244. 2 F.3d at 384. The court of appeals noted that the proper remedy for an
inconsistent jury verdict is a new trial, not a judgment for defendant. Id. n.6.

245. Id. at 384.
246. 2 F.3d 1112 (11th Cir. 1993).
247. 29 U.S.C. §§ 701-796i (1988).
248. 2 F.3d at 1125.
249. 29 U.S.C. § 794 (1988).
250. 2 F.3d at 1125.
251. Id. at 1122.
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found that PFB did not constitute a physical impairment as defined by
the Rehabilitation Act.252 Second, the court concluded that even if
PFB did constitute a physical impairment, plaintiffs had nonetheless
failed to show the availability of a reasonable accommodation that would
allow them to safely perform their jobs.2"'

On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the decision of the district
court.24  Although the court of appeals reasoned that PFB might
possibly constitute a physical impairment under the Rehabilitation
Act,255 it decided that it was not necessary to reach such a conclusion
because the district court properly found that no reasonable accommoda-
tion existed that would allow plaintiffs to perform their jobs in a safe
manner.

25
6

V. CML RIGHTS ACTS OF 1866 AND 1871

A. Post-Patterson Cases-Section 1981

During the survey period, the Eleventh Circuit continued to receive
appeals concerning the scope of Section 1981 actions in the aftermath of
Patterson v. McLean Credit Union. 7 Although they have limited
significance in view of the passage of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 8

these cases provide important background in the development of civil
rights litigation.

In Nunez v. First Union National Bank of Florida,"9 plaintiff
contended that the bank had violated Section 1981 by failing to promote
him'from a Bank Manager II position to an Assistant Consumer Bank
Manager II position, and by subsequently informing him that his
position was being eliminated.260 The district court granted the bank's
motion for summary judgment, finding that the promotion would not
have constituted a "new and distinct contractual relationship," as
required by Patterson, and that there was an absence of a factual

252. Id. at 1126.
253. Id.
254. Id. at 1127.
255. Id. at 1126.
256. Id. at 1126-27.
257. 491 U.S. 164 (1989).
258. Pub, L. No. 102-166, §§ 1-118, 105 Stat. 1071 (1988) (codified at 42 U.S.C.

§§ 2000e-1 to 2000e-17 and scattered sections (Supp. 1992)).
259. 996 F.2d 287 (11th Cir. 1993).
260. Id. at 289.
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dispute over any discriminatory conduct by the bank "at the time of
contract formation."261

On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the district court's decision
relative to plaintiff's discharge claim, but the panel reversed and
remanded plaintiff's promotion claim under Section 1981.22 According
to the Eleventh Circuit, plaintiff's allegations that the Assistant
Consumer Bank Manager II position would have made him responsible
for four additional branches and would have called for his receiving
significant increases in salary was sufficient to constitute a "new and
distinct employment relationship."263

In Vance v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co. (Vance II),2"
plaintiff's second encounter with the Eleventh Circuit certainly proved
to be a less rewarding experience than her first encounter. In the trial
which precipitated the first appeal, plaintiff had been awarded
approximately four million dollars in lost wages and benefits, front pay,
compensatory damages, and punitive damages in her Section 1981
action.265 In Vance I, the Eleventh Circuit reversed the district court's
order granting Southern Bell's motion for JNOV but affirmed the district
court's order granting the Company's motion for new trial since the
amount of damages awarded by the jury was unreasonable. The Vance
I panel concluded that the evidence was sufficient to hold Southern Bell
liable for racial harassment.2'

After the Eleventh Circuit decided Vance I, but before the retrial of
the case, the Supreme Court handed down Patterson. After Patterson
was decided and before the commencement of the new trial, Southern
Bell moved for summary judgment on the ground that plaintiff's claim
of harassment was not cognizable under Section 1981 because it
concerned matters beyond the initial formation of the employment
relationship. The district court denied this motion, refusing to apply the
Patterson holding retroactively.' The case then went to trial and the
jury awarded plaintiff about one million dollars in compensatory and
punitive damages.' The trial court entered judgment for plaintiff

261. Id.
262. Id.
263. Id. (citing Wall v. Trust Co. of Georgia, 946 F.2d 805, 808 (11th Cir. 1991)).
264. 983 F.2d 1573 (11th Cir. 1993).
265. Vance v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co. (Vance I), 863 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir. 1989).
266. Id. at 1506.
267. 983 F.2d at 1575. The district court relied upon Chevron Oil v. Huson, 404 U.S.

97 (1971).
268. 983 F.2d at 1575.
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and denied Southern Bell's renewed motions for directed verdict, JNOV
or a new trial. Defendant then appealed.269

While defendant's appeal was pending, and before the Eleventh Circuit
heard argument in Vance II, Congress passed the Civil Rights Act of
1991, which expanded the scope of Section 1981 to protect discrimination
involving terminations and the enjoyment of terms and conditions of the
employment relationship. The Eleventh Circuit in Vance II was
therefore faced with deciding whether the district court erred by refusing
to apply Patterson retroactively, and whether the Civil Rights Act of
1991 overruled Patterson retroactively. With respect to the first issue,
the court of appeals held that Patterson applied retroactively and
therefore plaintiffs Section 1981 claim was barred.27

" The court relied
upon James B. Beam Distilling Co. v. Georgia,27 which held that if the
court applies a rule to the parties in the case in which the rule is
announced, the rule must be applied retroactively to cases pending at
the time the rule issues. Since the Court in Patterson applied its
interpretation of Section 1981 to the parties there, the Eleventh Circuit
reasoned that Patterson applied to all cases then pending, including
plaintiff's.272 On the other hand, the Eleventh Circuit held that since
the judgment was entered prior to the effective date of the 1991 Act, the
Act did not retroactively apply to plaintiffs action and thus Patterson
applied to her facts.273

B. Section 1983 Cases

Qualified Immunity. In Wu v. Thomas,74 the Eleventh Circuit
was asked to decide whether or not for purposes of the qualified
immunity defense, it had been clearly established that retaliatory
harassment-as opposed to sexual or racial harassment-could violate
Title VII, when the employer caused the employee no tangible harm,
such as loss of salary, benefits, or positionY 5 Plaintiffs, husband and
wife professors at the University of Alabama, claimed that they had been
the subject of unlawful retaliation in violation of Title VII, Section 1983,
and the First and Fourteenth Amendments as a result of plaintiff
Kathleen Wu's filing of a sex discrimination lawsuit in 1984. In the trial

269. Id.
270. Id.
271. 111 S. Ct. 2439, 2446 (1991).
272. 983 F.2d. at 1576-77.
273. Id. at 1577-78. See also supra note 141.
274. 996 F.2d 271 (11th Cir. 1993).
275. Id. at 272.
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of the retaliation claim, the jury found for each defendant except one,
against whom they awarded compensatory and punitive damages to
Kathleen Wu.27 The district court granted this defendant's motion for
JNOV or, alternatively, a new trial.277 The court reasoned that the
acts found by the jury to be retaliatory involved no constitutionally
protected interests and were contrary to no established law.278

On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit upheld the district court's order
granting defendant's motion for JNOV.2 1' According to the court of
appeals, because plaintiffs sought damages under Section 1983 for her
Title VII claim, the qualified immunity defense was available to
defendant."0 In order to defeat the qualified immunity defense,
plaintiff had the burden of showing that it was clearly established that
retaliatory harassment that caused no tangible harm could violate Title
VII. According to the Eleventh Circuit, when defendant acted, it was not
clearly established that acts like his would violate Title VII, and
therefore the district court properly granted JNOV to defendant."1

276. Id.
277. Id.
278. Id. at 273. In response to written interrogatories (to which plaintiffs had objected)

the jury listed ways that they believed retaliation had occurred, which included, inter alia:
assigning plaintiff Kathleen Wu to a classroom with inadequate blackboard space,
criticizing her lawsuit in front of faculty members and secretaries, calling her dishonest
without proof, and changing her textbook after her class was set up. Id. at n.1.

279. Id. at 274.
280, Id. at 273.
281. Id. at 274.
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